STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

 ORIGINAL

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 10 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHNNIE LEE LAWSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002467

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court erred in overruling defense counsel's objection to testimony that Appellant's ten-print card originated from Kirkland Correctional Institution as improper character evidence where the defense was willing to stipulate to the admission of the ten-print card?

II.

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to include a limiting instruction to the jury regarding the prior bad acts evidence admitted by implication from the testimony that Lawson's ten-print card originated at Kirkland Correctional Institution?

III.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting the testimony of State's witness, James Hickman, where (1) he was not qualified to provide expert testimony in fingerprint analysis due to his failure to update his training and maintain any certifications, and (2) his testimony was not reliable in light of his failure to follow any written policies or procedures and failure to have his results verified by a blind review?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 13, 2015, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Johnnie Lee Lawson for one count of breaking into a motor vehicle. R. 458.

On November 17-20, 2015, Lawson appeared before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury for trial on the above offense. Lawson was represented by Aimee Zmroczek, and the State was represented by assistant solicitors Sutania Radlein and Robert Elam. R. 1. The jury found Lawson guilty. R. 428. Judge McMahon sentenced Lawson to the maximum penalty of five years incarceration. R. 441.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT FACTS

Introduction

Lawson was arrested in an auto-breaking case after the State's latent fingerprint examiner, James Hickman, determined that one of Lawson's fingerprints from his ten-print card¹ "matched" the partial fingerprint found on the inside of the car window. R. 20, ll. 2-4; R. 149, l. 17 – 150, l. 14. Defense counsel challenged the admissibility of Hickman's expert testimony because of his failure to maintain any certifications or abide by any formal policies or procedures regarding fingerprint analysis. R. 253, l. 19 – 260, l. 5. Defense counsel also objected to testimony, after the admission of Lawson's ten-print card into evidence, that Lawson's fingerprints were collected by the "Department of Corrections, Kirkland Correctional Institute." R. 227, ll. 21-25. The objection was overruled despite counsel's willingness to stipulate to the authentication and admission of the ten-print card and argument that Lawson's prior imprisonment was improper character evidence. R. 228, l. 13 – 233, l. 3. The solicitor then had the witness repeat his testimony that the ten-print card originated in 2003 at Kirkland Correctional Institute. R. 235, ll. 3-9. Although the solicitor and trial judge agreed that the testimony regarding Kirkland was provided only for the purpose of authenticating the ten-print card, the judge refused to give a limiting instruction to the jury regarding the implicit evidence that Lawson had a prior conviction. R. 367, l. 24 – 371, l. 22.

¹ A ten-print card is the fingerprint card made either using ink and paper or a digital scan machine, which includes individual prints of each of a person's fingers and thumb and "slaps" of the four fingers of each hand together and then of the thumbs. These ten-print cards can then be loaded into the Automated Fingerprint Identification System ("AFIS"). R. 216, l. 7 – 220, l. 7.

Trial

Jessica and Blake Wilbanks were moving into a new home in Cayce when Mrs. Wilbanks heard a scraping noise outside at approximately 10:30 p.m. She walked toward their two-door Volvo, which was parked in the street, thinking it may be her husband. When she got closer, she saw a slender black male standing on the passenger side of the car. When the man saw her, he ran away towards a church across the street. R. 37, l. 11 – 43, l. 8; R. 43, l. 17 – 46, l. 10; R. 48, ll. 1-8; R. 48, l. 24 – 51, l. 10; R. 70, ll. 17-21. Mrs. Wilbanks did not see the person's face. R. 48, ll. 9-10. She went inside to get her husband. R. 43, ll. 9-16; R. 51, l. 13 – 52, l. 16. When they came outside, they discovered that the passenger side window of the car was partially down and that there was damage to the area between the windows. R. 52, l. 17 – 54, l. 15; R. 55, l. 14 – 56, l. 22.

Police responded to the scene. R. 56, l. 23 – 57, l. 23. Officers found a crowbar located near the church. R. 140, l. 18 – 141, l. 8. Though the police later photographed the area where it was found, they never photographed the crowbar itself. Investigator Jason Merrill was unable to see any fingerprints on it and the crowbar was too large to use the fuming chamber in his office to develop any latent prints. R. 142, l. 19 – 145, l. 2; R. 171, ll. 11-15. Rather than sending it to another agency to look for latent prints or DNA, or at the very least storing it for the defense to conduct such testing, the investigator threw the crowbar in a dumpster. R. 168, l. 13 – 172, l. 8; R. 204, l. 4 – 206, l. 3. Thus, a spoliation charge was given to the jury. R. 371, l. 23 – 376, l. 25; R. 420, ll. 8-21.

The physical description provided by Mrs. Wilbanks was too vague to develop any suspects. Merrill testified that the description “could fit thousands or millions of people.” R. 149, ll. 6-9. Thus, the only lead that the police had were the partial fingerprints collected from

the outside and inside of the passenger side window of the Volvo using hinge-lifters.² R. 132, l. 5 – 138, l. 16. Mrs. Wilbanks testified that she noticed the apparent fingerprints on the glass of the window on the night of the incident but admitted that they did not wash the Volvo very often. R. 62, ll. 2-11. The three hinge-lifters collected by Merrill were submitted to the Lexington County Sheriff's Department for examination in August 2014. R. 149, ll. 10-21. Merrill received a report in September 2014, indicating that "a match was made on one of the fingerprints . . . submitted in th[e] case and it was . . . a match to a Johnny L. Lawson." R. 149, l. 22 – 150, l. 5.

***Objection to Testimony that Lawson's Ten-print Card
Originated at a Prison***

Anticipating the solicitor's future attempt to admit Lawson's ten-print card into evidence, defense counsel said that she would stipulate to its admission but argued that the information regarding his arrests on the back was improper. R. 91, ll. 3-14. The solicitor argued that the entire ten-print card should be admitted, without redaction, as a business record. R. 91, ll. 16-22. Judge McMahon ruled that the prior criminal history was not admissible and instructed the solicitor to either redact it or offer it through the authenticating witness and substitute a redacted copy later. R. 91, l. 23 – 92, l. 14; see R. 344, l. 12 – 345, l. 11. Defense counsel again offered to stipulate to the fingerprint cards' admission as long as none of Lawson's prior arrests were on it, but the State would not accept the stipulation. R. 92, ll. 16-25.

South Carolina Law Enforcement Division ("SLED") agent Seraphim Haftoglou, the Automated Fingerprint Identification System ("AFIS") supervisor, testified regarding the collection and retention of known fingerprints. Haftoglou testified that fingerprints are collected

² Merrill described a hinge-lifter as an all in one adhesive strip with a light colored backer attached to it, used for lifting latent fingerprints. R. 132, ll. 13-18.

mainly following arrests at detention centers. R. 215, ll. 2-9. Following a bench conference, Haftglou added that fingerprints are also collected for background checks for certain jobs. R. 215, ll. 10-25. Haftglou identified State's Exhibit 16 as a ten-print card that he had certified and it was admitted into evidence. R. 222, l. 11 – 224, l. 11.

Following the admission of the ten-print card into evidence, the solicitor elicited testimony that the card belonged to Lawson. R. 224, l. 19 – 225, l. 6. Haftglou also read the identifying characteristics and demographic information printed on the card, which included that Lawson is a black male, 5'10" tall, 169 pounds, with brown eyes and black hair. R. 225, ll. 12-23. Haftglou further testified that Lawson's fingerprint card was collected via a live scan machine **on July 23, 2003 at the "Department of Corrections, Kirkland Correctional Institute."** R. 226, l. 18 – 227, l. 24. Defense counsel objected. R. 227, l. 25 – 233, l. 3.

Defense counsel argued that the court previously granted her motion to redact all information regarding arrests or criminal history, which should include the reference to Kirkland Correctional Institute because it implies that Lawson was previously arrested and imprisoned. R. 228, l. 14 – 230, l. 1. Judge McMahon referenced State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 687 S.E.2d 35 (2009), stating that it requires that the State lay a foundation of "when the prints were taken, where they were taken, on what specific date and if they were assigned a unique state identification, identifying number or it [the ten-print card] wouldn't be admissible." R. 230, l. 3 – 231, l. 6. Defense counsel responded that her objection is not to the authenticity of the ten-print card, to which she is willing to stipulate. Rather, she argued that the information on the ten-print card was improper character evidence. R. 231, ll.7-18. Judge McMahon stated that the State did not accept the stipulation such that the solicitors were required to authenticate the ten-

print card. The judge further stated that Lawson's "prior criminal history has not come into evidence." R. 231, ll. 19-24.

Defense counsel argued that the only reason that the solicitors did not accept the stipulation was because they wanted the opportunity to let the jury know that Lawson had been at a correctional facility. R. 231, l. 25 – 232, l. 7. Judge McMahon said that what the State wants is not relevant, but that they are not required to stipulate. He analogized the case law stating that the State does not have to stipulate to a defendant's prior burglary convictions where they serve as the basis for a first degree burglary charge. R. 232, ll. 8-14. Defense counsel argued that the burglary cases are distinguishable because they involved proof of an element of the offense. R. 232, ll. 15-19.

Judge McMahon ruled that his prior ruling regarding redaction of the criminal history did not include the reference to where the fingerprints were collected. He ruled that the State still had to authenticate the document and was not required to accept the stipulation. R. 232, l. 20 – 233, l. 3. When the jury returned from the luncheon recess, **the solicitor** resumed the examination of Haftglou and **again elicited that the ten-print card originated on July 23, 2003 at Kirkland Correctional Institute.** R. 235, ll. 3-9.

Objection to Admissibility of Fingerprint Examiner's Testimony

The solicitor next called latent fingerprint examiner, James Hickman, of the Lexington County Sheriff's Department to testify. R. 241. Hickman had been a latent print examiner for thirty-six years and an AFIS operator for ten to fifteen years. R. 243, ll. 16-25. Hickman explained that his job consists of determining the quality of the latent prints obtained from various locations and entering them into the AFIS system. He also conducts comparisons of latent prints to known prints to determine if they match. R. 241, l. 19 – 243, l. 15. Hickman

completed basic training at the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy and earned an Associate's Degree in Police Administration from Midland's Technical College. Specific to fingerprint examination, he had on the job training with a supervisor when he first started in Orangeburg, South Carolina in the 1970's. R. 241, ll. 5-18; R. 244, ll. 1-19. He has also taken an 8-hour fingerprint recognition course at Midland's Technical College, a 40-hour basic fingerprint comparison class at the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy, a 40-hour advanced latent print comparison course at the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy, and a 120 hour advanced administrative latent print examiners course with the Federal Bureau of Investigation in Quantico, Virginia.³ Hickman said that he also took a course in criminal investigations through the Institute of Applied Science in Chicago, Illinois, which included latent prints and fingerprint identification. R. 241, ll. 5-18; R. 244, ll. 1-18.

Hickman claimed that he is "constantly keeping up to date with fingerprint and latent print analysis." R. 244, ll. 20-24. He then described that he communicates with other fingerprint examiners, visits websites, has a small collection of books, and receives several trade magazines. R. 244, l. 25 – 245, l. 10; see also R. 296, ll. 13-25. Additionally, he said that fingerprint comparison makes up the majority of his job, estimating that he had examined thousands of fingerprints. R. 247, l. 15 – 248, l. 1. Interestingly, Hickman had only been qualified as an expert to testify in the South Carolina courts five times. R. 248, ll. 2-9.

The solicitor asked that Hickman be qualified as an expert in fingerprint analysis. Defense counsel then conducted her voir dire. R. 248, ll. 10-18. Hickman admitted that he was no longer a member of International Association of Identification ("IAI"), though he was a member prior to his retirement and return as a part-time employee. R. 248, l. 21 – 249, l. 9. He

³ Hickman later testified that his class at Quantico was in the mid-1980s. R. 296, ll. 2-12.

further admitted that he has no certifications and that the last schooling that he attended regarding fingerprints was in the late 1990s or early 2000s. R. 249, ll. 10-23. Later on in the trial, Hickman claimed that he was a “certified senior” with the IAI and claimed the certification is good for life, with no need for renewal. R. 293, l. 22 – 295, l. 15. He also claimed to have some basic familiarity with the National Academy of Science but was not familiar with their report “Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward.”⁴ R. 297, ll. 1-7.

Hickman does not abide by any clearly defined policies or procedures nor are the procedures that he follows written in any form of guidelines, protocols, or manuals. R. 249, l. 24 – 250, l. 4; R. 252, l. 25 – 253, l. 6. Though aware of the Scientific Working Group on Friction Ridge Analysis, Study and Technology (“SWGFAST”) and its recommendations regarding best practices in fingerprint analysis, Hickman does not follow any of their guidelines because there is no requirement that he do so. R. 251, l. 12 – 252, l. 1; R. 298, ll. 4-17. He does not regularly read any peer reviewed journals. R. 250, ll. 11-12. He does not rely upon or apply any error rates to his analysis. R. 250, ll. 13-21. He also does not rely on any validation studies, but said that every match he makes is validated by another examiner in the office. R. 250, l. 22 – 251, l. 5. Regarding the methodology he uses, Hickman said that he has always used the analysis, comparison, evaluation, and verification (“ACE-V”) methodology, even before it was named as such. R. 252, ll. 5-24. Hickman maintained that the “quality assurance control” is the verification by a second examiner, which acts as a check and balance. R. 253, ll. 7-11.

Defense counsel objected to Hickman’s qualifications as an expert under Rule 702, SCRE, which states: “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier

⁴ See Committee on Identifying the Needs of the Forensic Sciences Community, et al., *Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward* (2009), available at <https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/228091.pdf> (discussing the lack of standardization and oversight in friction ridge analysis, amongst other forensic science disciplines).

of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” R. 254, ll. 2-10. Counsel agreed that fingerprint evidence is generally accepted in the scientific community. However, she argued that Hickman was not qualified due to his lack of certification and the significant passage of time since his last course or training. She further argued that his testimony would lack reliability, citing State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012), in light of his failure to document any specific procedures, methodology, and quality controls that he utilizes. R. 254, l. 10 – 256, l. 4. Defense counsel also noted that the court must consider the degree to which the trier of fact would be relying upon the testimony. R. 254, ll. 15-18. Hickman’s testimony that “one fingerprint makes a match” would be significant in light of the fact that the only evidence allegedly linking Lawson to the crime was the fingerprint. R. 255, l. 24 – 256, l. 4.

In response, the solicitor cited Hickman’s many years of on-the-job-training and attendance of various courses. R. 256, l. 7 – 257, l. 8. He argued that Hickman’s lack of certifications and written policies has no bearing on his expert qualification. R. 257, ll. 8-23. Thus, the State alleged that its questioning during voir dire provided a sufficient basis for Hickman to be qualified as an expert. R. 257, ll. 24-25.

Judge McMahon found that Hickman was qualified to provide expert testimony. R. 249, l. 2 – 259, l. 23. He found that “fingerprints is a recognized...scientific field in South Carolina.” Regarding Hickman’s expertise, the judge found that he had sufficient training or experience or education in fingerprint analysis based on his forty-two years in law enforcement, thirty-six of which were as latent print examiner; ten to fifteen years as an AFIS operator; his classes and on-the-job training; review on the internet and websites of other experts in the field; his explanation

of fingerprints; and the volume of cases in which he has been involved. R. 258, l. 2 – 259, l. 11. Regarding reliability, Judge McMahon cited the fact that Hickman's examinations are validated and that he was previously been qualified as an expert in the field of fingerprint analysis in other cases. R. 259, ll.12-17.

Testimony Regarding Partial Fingerprint

When the jury returned to the courtroom, they were instructed that Hickman was qualified to testify in the area of fingerprint testimony and give his opinion. R. 260, ll. 8-20. Hickman told the jury that fingerprints are "the most positive means of identification that we have." R. 264, ll. 6-7. He went on to say:

When I say it's him; it's him. It's that print. There's no way, like DNA is, is great and it's coming along and it's a good thing to have, but DNA gives you a ratio, like it's 10 million to 1 that it could be you, but **whenever I match a fingerprint up and make a positive identification, it is you; it is no one else.**

R. 264, ll. 10-16 (emphasis added). Hickman testified that it was his opinion that the latent print submitted for identification belonged to Lawson. R. 284, ll. 22-25.

Regarding the process that he used to reach that determination, Hickman said that he received three lifts related to the present case. He evaluated them and determined that Lift 2 was of sufficient quality to put into AFIS. He determined that the print was from a middle finger, consistent with a hand facing downward on the inside of a car window. Thus, he restricted the AFIS search parameters to look only at middle fingers. R. 265, l. 3 – 273, l. 14. He then began the AFIS search, which yielded a list of twenty candidates, purportedly with the strongest candidate listed first. He then conducted a visual comparison. **Because the first candidate, Lawson, was a match, Hickman did not examine any of other candidates.** R. 273, l. 15 – 274, l. 6; R. 301, l. 16 – 303, l. 12; R. 316, ll. 20-25. Hickman said that the AFIS program ranks the twenty candidates, with the first being the most likely match and generates a score.

However, Hickman had “no earthly idea” what the scores are based upon. R. 324, l. 11 – 326, l. 11; R. 333, l. 21 – 334, l. 4.

Hickman then showed the jury a presentation reflecting eight “minutia points” that were in the same general location or same location on the latent and known prints. Hickman said that he only marked eight points so that the presentation would not be cluttered but that he actually found approximately fifteen. R. 277, l. 14 – 281, l. 7. While he pointed out two additional points on re-direct examination, Hickman admitted that his written report referenced only eight points. R. 292, l. 4 – 293, l. 19; R. 328, l. 12 – 330, l. 2. He could not recall when, but he said that he went “back and count[ed] the rest of the points” “sometime later on.” R. 312, ll. 15-21.

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