ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-002467

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JOHNNIE LEE LAWSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DONALD V. MYERS
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

Lexington County Judicial Center
205 East Main Street
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 359-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court did not err in allowing the State to properly authenticate Appellant's ten print card taken at a correctional facility, and the State was not required to water down its case and accept a vague stipulation. Additionally, Appellant was not prejudiced by the evidence which made no reference to any prior crimes or arrests. Further any error in allowing testimony that the ten print card originated from a corrections facility was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Law enforcement solved the case by comparing the print recovered from the Volvo against a known standard – Lawson's ten-print card from the Kirkland Correctional facility. Lawson offered to stipulate to authentication of the ten print card. R. p. 91. Note Lawson did not offer to stipulate to the efficacy of the match of the ten-print card with the Volvo prints. Along with the offer to stipulate, Lawson expressed having “an issue with the hearsay of **what he was arrested for** on the back. **I'm fine with the rest of it**, but I think that that's improper.” R. p. 91, lines 7-14 (emphasis added). The trial court agreed with Lawson that his criminal record on the card should be redacted. R. pp. 91-92. The prosecutor did not accept the offer to stipulate. R. p. 92, lines 19-23. Lawson responded to this refusal as follows: “As long as his prior record, none of his prior arrests are not there.” R. p. 92, lines 24-25. Thereafter, the trial court asked counselors if there was anything further before the jury came back to the courtroom and Lawson responded, “Not that I can think of, Your Honor.” R. p. 93, lines 10-12.

The State called two more witnesses before SLED agent Seraphim Haftoglou testified about how records are attained and maintained for AFIS. Agent Haftoglou is the AFIS supervisor at SLED. R. p. 213. The prints are attained under a statute that allows SLED to store them. “These are

criminal and some applicant.” R. p. 215, line 20. Agent Haftoglou mentioned SLED also collects prints from concealed permit holders and security officers, which are manually entered in the system (fingerprint records from correctional facilities are digitally entered). R. p. 217, lines 4-5. The ten print card was admitted over an objection previously made at a bench conference. R. p. 224, lines 3-11.

Agent Haftoglou testified the print was created July 23, 2003, and the print originated at Kirkland Correctional Institute. Agent Haftoglou did not say whether it was an employee print or an inmate print. R. p. 227, lines 18-24. Lawson objected at this point. The following conversation occurred outside the presence of the jurors.

Ms. Zmroczek: Your Honor, it’s my understanding of your previous ruling, when I brought this up before the jury came in this morning that any information regarding arrests or criminal history was to be redacted before entered into evidence and –

The Court: The criminal history is. I don’t understand what you’re saying.

Ms. Zmroczek: Okay. The criminal history is not redacted from that.

The Court: It is redacted. He didn’t say anything about the criminal history. Her question was where was the prints taken from?

R. p. 228, lines 14-25. Lawson’s counsel explained her objection further, complaining mention of the originating institution was improper “because now they know that he’s been arrested before.” R. p. 229, line 24 – p. 230, line 1. The trial court noted that was not Lawson’s original objection when the trial court ordered the criminal record be redacted and noted State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 687 S.E.2d 35 (2009), which discussed authentication requirements for ten-print cards. R. p. 230, lines 2-25. Only then did Counsel enlarge her objection to “improper hearsay about or the improper

character evidence associated with the location.” R. p. 231, lines 12-14. The trial court noted the State did not need to accept the stipulation and further noted Lawson’s original objection during the pretrial argument was not to the institution being named. R. p. 232, line 20 – p. 233, line 25. The prosecution continued with testimony authenticating the card. R. pp. 235-36.

First, the issue is not preserved for review. Express consent to the admission of evidence constitutes a waiver of the issue on appeal. State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 498, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989). A party cannot complain of error induced by his own conduct. State v. Whipple, 324 S.C. 43, 476 S.E.2d 683 *cert denied* 519 U.S. 1045 (1996). The Court of Appeals does not sit to relieve self-inflicted wounds. Rish v. Rish by and Through Barry, 296 S.C. 14, 17, 370 S.E.2d 102, 104 (Ct. App. 1988) (Bell, J., concurring). In camera, counsel complained only about “an issue with the hearsay of what he was arrested for on the back. I’m fine with the rest of it, but I think that that’s improper.” R. p. 91, lines 7-14. After the trial court ordered the prior convictions redacted, counsel confirmed the limit of her objection: “As long as his prior record, none of his prior arrests are not there.” R. p. 92, lines 24-25. Redacted from the ten print card were convictions for operating an uninsured motor vehicle, failure to appear for a uniform traffic citation, driving under suspension, second offense driving under suspension, miscellaneous traffic offense, and failure to appear. Note the unredacted ten print card contained reference to being collected at Kirkland Correctional Institute and in the exhibit provided to the jury “Corr” was redacted. State’s Exhibit No. 16, Court’s Exhibit No. 2.

The testimony about how the ten print card was created and where it was created was necessary. In State v. Rich, 293 S.C. 172, 359 S.E.2d 281 (1987), the Supreme Court found the State did not sufficiently authenticate a print from a police file because no testimony was presented “as to

when and by whom the card was made and that the prints on the card were in fact those of this defendant . . .” Id. at 173-174, 359 S.E.2d at 282 (quoting State v. Foster, 200 S.E.2d 782 (N.C. 1973)) (internal quotations omitted).

In Anderson, a SLED agent testified the ten-print card was a SLED record taken of Anderson by “a law enforcement agency.” Anderson, 386 S.C. at 124, 687 S.E.2d at 37. The latent print examiner testified “that when a person is arrested, the police or jail personnel roll the person’s fingerprints onto a ten-print card.” Id. The Supreme Court noted defense counsel agreed to allow the witness to use the term “law enforcement agency” in lieu of identifying the record as originating from a correctional facility and noted no issue was raised as to potential prior bad act evidence at trial. Id. at 124 n.2, 687 S.E.2d at 37 n.2. The Supreme Court noted its prior holding in Rich that “testimony regarding the police fingerprint records [are] inadmissible without evidence as to when and by whom the card was made and that the prints on the card were in fact those of the defendant.” Id. at 127, 687 S.E.2d at 39 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Ultimately, the Supreme Court held it was not necessary to have the person who actually took the prints testify, and the Supreme Court found the testimony elicited met authentication requirements. Id.

In the instant case, Lawson complains the State should have been required to accept the vague stipulation to authentication, without a stipulation to the prints matching. Obviously, the only defense Lawson pursued was the defense that the match was incorrect. It is understandable then that the State was not comfortable with a cherry-picked stipulation. Of course, both parties need to assent for a stipulation to be offered in lieu of competent evidence. State v. Anderson, 318 S.C. 395, 399, 458 S.E.2d 56, 58 (Ct. App. 1995).

In Old Chief, 519 U.S. 172 (1997), the United States Supreme Court analyzed whether a

stipulation that Old Chief was previously convicted of a felony should have been required under Fed. Rule Evid. 403, in lieu of admitting specific evidence of the triggering conviction, in a prosecution for possession of a weapon by a felon. The United States Supreme Court noted “the familiar standard rule that the prosecution is entitled to prove its case by evidence of its own choice, or, more exactly, that a criminal defendant may not stipulate or admit his way out of the full evidentiary force of the case as the Government chooses to present it.” Id. at 653.

Unlike an abstract premise, whose force depends on going precisely to a particular step in a course of reasoning, a piece of evidence may address any number of separate elements, striking hard just because it shows so much at once Evidence . . . has force beyond any linear scheme of reasoning, and as its pieces come together a narrative gains momentum, with power not only to support its conclusions but to sustain the willingness of jurors to draw the inferences, whatever they may be necessary to reach an honest verdict. This persuasive power of the concrete and particular is often essential to the capacity of jurors to satisfy the obligations that the law places on them.

Id.

The general rule is the prosecution cannot be forced to accept stipulations. State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 356-57, 573 S.E.2d 856, 864 (Ct. App. 2002) (noting that the State cannot be forced to stipulate to the prior convictions element of burglary in the first degree; however, in order to eliminate prejudice to the defendant, the State may not introduce evidence of the details of the prior convictions, and the trial judge should instruct the jury that the prior convictions should only be considered for the limited purpose of proving one of the elements of burglary in the first degree).

Lawson’s reliance on State v. Henderson, 347 S.C. 455, 459, 556 S.E.2d 691, 693 (Ct. App. 2001) is unavailing. In Henderson, the evidence presented – notice that the DUI defendant could request independent testing – was unnecessary for authentication of the test results. The Henderson

court noted such evidence was not admissible against a DUI defendant and carried no probative value. In the present case, pursuant to Rich, the State needed to show authentication including establishing the location and time the fingerprint record was made. Lawson was only willing to stipulate to admitting the ten print card, not that the ten print card was his fingerprint, much less that it matched the print recovered from the crime scene. Therefore, the State should not have been forced to stipulate and weaken the force of its case which required establishing the efficacy of the match between the print recovered from the crime scene and the known standard. Old Chief; Simmons.

Additionally, Lawson was not prejudiced by the reference to a correctional institute. See State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999) (finding no prejudice resulted from the admission of testimony establishing that law enforcement already had Council's fingerprints on record at the time of his arrest for the charged offense); State v. Singleton, 284 S.C. 388, 392, 326 S.E.2d 153, 156 (1985) (finding an arresting officer's vague references to prior crimes in the jury's presence did not warrant the granting of a mistrial) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991); State v. Robinson, 238 S.C. 140, 150-51, 119 S.E.2d 671, 676 ((1961) (finding testimony by a witness that Robinson told him that he was on the way to the probation office did not create an inference that Robinson was convicted of another crime) *overruled on other grounds by* Torrence; State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 561, 575 S.E.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] vague reference to a defendant's prior [crimes] is not sufficient to justify a mistrial where there is no attempt by the State to introduce evidence that the accused has been convicted of other crimes.”).

Further, under the facts of the case, any error was harmless. Error is harmless when it could

not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990). Undoubtedly, the jury's mind was focused on the singular issue in this case, whether Lawson's fingerprints were on the car window. This was amply supported by uncontroverted expert testimony and the powerful circumstantial evidence that out of the whole state, the anonymous fingerprint record Hickman analyzed and found a match was from a person living less than a mile away from the crime scene. It simply is unfathomable the jury failed to believe the fingerprint evidence but convicted Lawson anyway because he may or may not have been an inmate at a correctional facility years ago.

II.

The trial court did not err in denying an instruction that would amount to a charge on the facts. Further, an instruction on prior bad acts was not warranted where no prior bad acts were admitted into evidence. Appellant was not prejudiced by the trial court's refusal to give the requested instruction.

The trial court rejected the exact language of Lawson's request for an instruction on "prior bad acts" because it specifically referenced incarceration at Kirkland Correctional, which amounts to an instruction on the facts. R. p. 369, lines 21-25. The trial court correctly noted no evidence of prior bad acts was introduced, and therefore an instruction on prior bad acts "highlights [an] inference that he has a prior bad act and there's no testimony whatsoever that he has a prior bad act." R. p. 371, lines 4-6. Frankly, it is unclear as to whether at that point Lawson's counsel was more concerned with testimony regarding the ten print card or Investigator Merrill's testimony that he knew Lawson well. Lawson's counsel raised the point about Investigator Merrill's testimony, and the trial court noted that it might only have meant they were friends. Counsel explained in response: "My brother in-law is one, yes. But that's the only reason I put it in there. I'm not as concerned with that." R. p. 371, lines 7-21.

Lawson cites cases where prior convictions were admitted into evidence and the trial court found error in not providing instructions to the jury on the limited purpose of those convictions. In the instant case, no prior convictions were admitted into evidence. Accordingly, the trial court did not err.

Further, Lawson cites State v. Smalls, 260 S.C. 44, 47-48, 194 S.E.2d 188, 189-90 (1973) in which the Supreme Court noted its concern that without a limiting instruction, the jury could consider the prior convictions "for any purpose, including the probability that appellant committed

the crime because he had demonstrated a prior criminal tendency.” In that case, defense counsel elicited the testimony from Smalls when he was testifying, anticipating the State eliciting the testimony. Given the context in which the prior convictions were admitted against Smalls, jurors might have thought the evidence was admitted to show Smalls’ propensity for crime. In the instant case, the testimony was elicited from the law enforcement agent who maintains fingerprint records rather than from Lawson. In this context, it would be obvious to a juror that the testimony was admitted to show that the fingerprint admitted as a known standard was Lawson’s fingerprint and not as propensity evidence.

Lawson distorts a rule from two out-of-state post-conviction relief cases, Tate v. State, 912 So.2d 919, 928 (Miss. 2005) and Phillips v. State, 675 S.E.2d 1 (Ga. 2009). Certainly the premise of those two cases is true: a trial attorney may make a strategic decision not to request an instruction that the trial attorney worries would highlight unfavorable evidence. However, those cases do not stand for the proposition that the trial court lacks discretion to fashion an instruction for the jury or decline an instruction that may be confusing. See State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016) (finding corroboration instruction was confusing and an impermissible comment on the facts, even though it was a correct proposition of law). Lawson relies on Mullaly v. Smyth, 96 S.C. 14, 79 S.E. 634 (1913). In that civil case, it was not clear what instruction was objected to and nonetheless, Smyth’s scope is clearly not as broad as Lawson argues in light of Stukes, which found a correct statement of law constituted an impermissible comment on the facts.

Further, to warrant reversal, a trial court’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 565 S.E.2d 298 (2002). In the instant case, for the same reasons Lawson was not prejudiced by the testimony about

the origin of the ten print card, Lawson was not prejudiced by the trial court's refusal to give the requested instruction. The jury's attention was surely focused on the singular question of whether he left his print on the car, not an oblique reference to a prior incarceration.

III.

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